1.
INTRODUCTION

1.1
Bristol and Region Archaeological Services were commissioned by Turley Associates on behalf of Claverwood Ltd. to carry out an archaeological building assessment of Prince William House, 30-34 Colston Street, Bristol.

1.2
The site of Prince William House is located in central Bristol at NGR ST 58594 73115 and in plan covers an area of about 550 square meters. The site is bounded by Colston Street to the west, Host Street to the east, Zed Alley to the north and the office premises of Matthew House at Nos.22-28 Colston Street to the south (Fig.1).  Prince William House has a Grade II Listed Building status and lies within the designated Conservation Area of St Michaels Hill and Christmas Steps.

1.3
The building is a former carriage builders workshop dating from 1897 that has been heavily renovated through the years and utilised for both warehouse and office space, with basement car-parking off Host Street. An application for Listed Building Consent to demolish the Host Street façade and the roof and internal stairs of the Colston Street portion of Prince William House was recently submitted (Planning Application No.08/00937/LA). The intention was to replace these parts of the building with residential accommodation over the car-parking area.

1.4
The building is terraced into the steep hillside, ground level varies between approximately 21m above Ordnance Datum at the northern end of the site to around 14m aOD in Host Street. Thus the Host Street frontage has two storeys but steps back sharply and contains a variety of architectural features constructed on different levels (Plate 1), whereas the Colston Street frontage has a distinctive, two-storey elevation, comprising six arched bays with a parapet above and a basement and sub-basement below street level (Plate 2).

1.5
The Building Assessment has been allocated the Bristol Historic Environment Record number 24656. The site was visited on the 17th October 2008 by Richard Coe and Andrew King who subsequently compiled this report.  The site archive will be prepared in accordance with nationally accepted guidelines (Brown 2007). A copy of the report will be sent to the National Monuments Record in Swindon.

2.
HISTORICAL & ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND

2.1 No previous archaeological activity has taken place on the site itself. Archaeological interventions nearby have no significance for the Colston Street half of the site.  Host Street has medieval origins, William Worcestre writing in 1480 mentions Hoorstrete aliter horstrete (Horestreet alias Horse Street, Neale 2000, 18-19).

2.2
The northern end of the site, adjoining No.40, follows the line of a road called Steep Street, which together with Host Street was part of the main route from Bristol westwards and north-westwards to outlying villages and the ferry across the Severn. Horse-drawn traffic had to climb halfway up Host Street before turning right to face the severe gradient of Steep Street and this had for long been a difficult process. In November 1865 the Council agreed to lay out a new street that would climb the hill diagonally, to link St Augustine’s Place with Maudlin Street (Latimer 1887,422).  

2.3
Demolition of properties in the way of the new street began in the summer of 1871. Upon completion in September 1872 the new thoroughfare was named Colston Street. The lower part of Steep Street was entirely swept away and pedestrians were provided with a new set of steps up from Host Street, that are now the upper part of Zed Alley. 

2.4 The areas cleared of buildings were allocated Lot numbers for redevelopment. George Ashmead’s plan of 1874 and the 1883 Ordnance Survey plan show the site of Prince William House to be undeveloped land. 

2.5 In 1897 John Totterdill submitted plans for a workshop premises between Colston Street and Host Street to accommodate his carriage building business, the designs were approved on August 5th 1897. The original plans show a building with two storeys above ground and two below adjacent to Colston Street, with an attached two-storey building fronting Host Street. The Colston Street frontage comprised a brick-built arcade of six full-height, semicircular, arched-bays with moulded surrounds, a continuous hoodmould, a moulded cornice with brick-on-edge band and a parapet above. 

2.6 The single-pitch roof structure depicted on the original plans had hipped-ends with a half-mansard to the rear (Figs. 2 & 3). Dormer extensions were shown projecting from the mansard but these were probably never built. The rear of the main roof truss and principle rafters of the mansard were supported on cast iron columns, a design that was also used between the ground and first floor.  The Host Street frontage had double doorways at ground level with windows above and a flat roof that was possibly glazed to allow maximum light for the workshop.  

2.7 In 1898 Totterdill’s carriage builders were first listed in Wright’s street directory at No.38 Colston Street. A black and white photograph, described as being taken in 1899, just about shows the Colston Street property but the Host Street part of the premises had yet to be completed (Fig.4). 

2.8
In 1909 Totterdill’s business was replaced by the Provincial Motor Cab Company. On the 20th May 1913 the building was gutted by a fire, black and white photographs taken while the fire was in progress give some impression of the damage caused (Figs. 5 & 6). The building was repaired by 1916 and was occupied by the business of F.C. Cox and Co., Motor Engineers and Garage until 1923.  

2.9
The building was subsequently occupied by a variety of business premises, one of the most enduring being the National Deposit Friendly Society, listed in street directories from 1935. The Goad’s Fire Insurance Plan volumes for the early decades of the 20th century have the site labelled as warehousing with offices over, gymnasium and garage premises with a subterranean petrol tank adjoining Host Street (Fig.7). 

2.10
Applications to carry out major internal alterations to the building were submitted in the mid 1950s and again in 1962, these were approved in April 1963 (Planning Application No. 574/63). A plan of the first-floor, dated 1962, gives an indication of the structural alterations that had taken place since the fire of 1913 (Fig.8). The building was given Grade II Listed status in 1977 (Listed Building No. 901-1/11/77). 

2.11
In 1979 and 1980 plans were submitted (Planning Application No. 2842F/80C) for major refurbishment of the building behind the Colston Street façade (Fig.9). The single pitch, hipped roof behind the parapet was repaired at that time. Further structural alterations may have been carried out in 1991 when the adjoining property of Matthew House was constructed and the Colston Street façade was refurbished (Planning Application No. 0199F/90C).        

3.
THE BUILDING ASSESSMENT

3.1 The ground floor, first floor and basement floor of Prince William House are modern offices, consequently no major structural fabric is exposed on these floors. The sub-basement level is currently in use as car-parking space, elements of the original 1897 building have been incorporated within the 1980s design (Plate 3). The southern wall of the sub-basement contains mortice slots for the original basement floor joists.  

3.2 Apart from a short length of boarding at the northern end of the building there is no floor within the roof space of Prince William House. No charred timbers were visible indicating that the original Victorian roof structure did not survive the fire of 1913. However, there are elements that are likely to date from c.1915-16 when the roof was replaced. The original, architect’s section drawing depicted composite trusses with wrought iron king bolts. The present roof contains timber half king post trusses and principle rafters re-inforced with three-way straps (Plate 4). Together with collar beams, side purlins and many of the common rafters, these are the earliest timbers. 

3.3 The common rafters have been reinforced in several places with modern timbers (Plate 5), the tie-beams at the northern end of the building have been strengthened with reinforced steel joists (Plates 6 & 7) and the wall plate setting and underlying masonry have been extensively repaired (Plate 8). It is likely that the roof was last refurbished, felted and re-tiled in the early 1980s.      

4.
CONCLUSIONS
4.1
The building assessement, together with the documentary research has shown that Prince William House has undergone many changes since its construction as a coach-builder’s premises in the late 1890s. There have been two distinct episodes of internal rebuilding, the first after a fire in 1913 and the second during extensive refurbishment in the early 1980s. Throughout its history there have been many different tenants and uses that have required various alterations. 

4.2
The sub-basement area contains features dating from the original 1897 design that have been retained within the 1980s rebuild.  The roof space contains structural timbers associated with the 1915 replacement following the fire. The Colston Street façade, although extensively restored and with modern additions, is the most prominent original feature of this building.  
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APPENDIX 1: Policy Statement

This report is the result of work carried out in the light of national and local authority policies.

NATIONAL POLICIES

Statutory protection for archaeology is enshrined in the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act (1979), amended by the National Heritage Act, 1983. Nationally important sites are listed in the Schedule of Ancient Monuments (SAM). Scheduled Monument consent is required for any work which would affect a SAM.

ODPM PLANNING POLICY GUIDANCE

The Planning Policy Guidance of Archaeology and Planning (PPG 16) consolidates advice to planning authorities. The Guidance stresses the non-renewable nature of the archaeological resource, details the role of the County Sites and Monuments Record (SMR), encourages early consultation with county and district archaeological officers and sets out the requirement for developers to provide sufficient information on the archaeological impact of development to enable a reasonable planning decision to be made.

PPG 16 also indicates the circumstances where further work would be necessary and outlines the use of agreements and conditions to protect the archaeological resource.

DISTRICT POLICY

Bristol City Council Supplementary Planning Document (2006) states (policy SPD No.7, p4):

(i)
There will be a presumption in favour of preserving any archaeological features or sites of national importance, whether scheduled or not.

(ii)
Development which could adversely affect sites, structures, landscapes or buildings of archaeological interest and their settings will require an assessment of the archaeological resource through a desktop study, and where appropriate a field evaluation. Where there is evidence of archaeological remains, development will not be permitted except where it can be demonstrated that the archaeological features of the site will be satisfactorily preserved in situ, or a suitable strategy has been put forward to mitigate the impact of development proposals upon important archaeological remains and their settings; or, if this is not possible and the sites are not scheduled or of national importance, provision for adequately recording the site prior to destruction is made, preferably by negotiating a planning agreement to ensure that access, time and financial resources are available to allow essential recording and publication to take place.
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